



Migration and conflict in the Horn of Africa: a review of recent literature

By Jessica Gregson: Independent Consultant



The Research and Evidence Facility Consortium



SOAS, University of London

Thornhaugh St, Russell Square, London WC1H 0XG United Kingdom

www.soas.ac.uk

Team Leader: Laura Hammond

Project Manager and Research Officer:

Louisa Brain



The University of Manchester

Arthur Lewis Building,
Oxford Road,
Manchester M13 9PL
United Kingdom

www.gdi.manchester.ac.uk

Migration & Development Key Expert: Oliver Bakewell Communications Manager:

Rose Sumner



Sahan

Nairobi, Kenya

www.sahan.global

Conflict & Governance Key

Expert: Vincent Chordi

Senior Advocacy Officer:

Rashid Abdi

Research Coordinator:

Caitlin Sturridge

Research Team Leader:

Lavender Mboya

This report was prepared by Jessica Gregson with support from Oliver Bakewell and Louisa Brain.

This publication was produced with the financial support of the European Union. Its contents are the sole responsibility of the researchers and do not necessarily reflect the views of the European Union or the EU Trust Fund for Africa.

Suggested Citation: Research and Evidence Facility (REF). January 2020. 'Migration and

Conflict in the Horn of Africa: a review of recent literature', London: EU Trust Fund for Africa (Horn of Africa Window) Research and Evidence Facility.

For more information on the Research and Evidence Facility visit the website: blogs.soas.ac.uk/ref-hornresearch



Funded by the European Union Emergency Trust Fund for Africa.

Contents

Introduction	1
Theme 1: Stability, instability and migration	2
1.1 Uganda's evolving approach to refugee hosting	2
liberal migration policies	4
1.3 South Sudan's ongoing conflict continues to drive refugee movements	4
1.4 Eritrea's changing political context and migration fluctuations	5
1.5 Kenya's developing approach to refugee integration	
1.6 Gradual returns to Somalia	
1.7 Djibouti's ongoing position as a transit country	
1.8 Changing drivers of migration	7
Theme 2: Movement and mobility structures and patterns	. 14
2.1 A significant increase in internal displacement in Ethiopia	. 14
2.2 Bi-directional flows between Somalia and Yemen	. 14
2.3 Increasing migration from the Horn of Africa to Yemen and beyond	. 15
2.4 Return migration from the Middle East to Ethiopia	
2.5 Return migration to Somalia	
2.6 The role of smugglers and traffickers	
2.7 The role of social media along migration journeys	
2.8 Remittance flows and the diaspora	. 19
Theme 3: Changing policy and programmes	. 21
3.1 Current challenges to supporting migrants in the Horn	. 21
3.2 The role of international actors in 'borderwork'	. 22
3.3 The impact of the Comprehensive Refugee Response Framework (CRRF) on	1
countries of origin	
3.4 EU policy towards tackling migration transit countries	. 23
3.5 Regional approaches to migration governance	. 25
Conclusion	. 26
Deferences	20

Introduction

This paper builds on an earlier detailed review completed by the Research and Evidence Facility (REF) of the EU Trust Fund for Africa (Horn of Africa Window) in 2017. It provides an overview of new literature related to migration in the Horn of Africa published since that earlier review was released, that is, between 2017 and 2019 (REF, 2017a). It is testament to the huge academic and policy interest in this area that there is more research than can be covered in the paper. It has been necessary to be selective and we have focused on high-quality studies that provide new and original insights.

The paper is arranged around three broad themes:

- Theme 1: Stability, instability and migration;
- Theme 2: Movement and mobility structures and patterns;
- Theme 3: Changing policy and programmes.

The conclusion of the paper highlights some ongoing gaps in research and newly emerging issues that need further exploration.

Theme 1:

Stability, instability and migration

Since the previous REF literature review was carried out, there have been a number of significant high-level changes in the region; these will probably affect migration patterns in future, but it is too early to see robust studies that look beyond descriptions of migration flows. These changes include:

- The selection by Ethiopia's ruling party of new reformist Prime Minister Abiy Ahmed in April 2018, and the resultant policy changes, including the release of political prisoners and the installation of a new gender-balanced cabinet (Verjee & Knopf, 2019).
- Related to the above, the official end of the 20-year 'frozen conflict' between Eritrea and Ethiopia on 9 July 2018 (Mwangi, 2018).
- The ousting of Sudan's former president, Omar el-Bashir, in April 2019, following months of popular protests, and the establishment of, first, a transitional military-led government and, subsequently, a joint military-civilian transitional government in September 2019 (BBC, 2019).

Chronic insecurity in both Somalia and South Sudan continues, with fluctuating effects on outward and return migration, primarily within the region: an intensification of conflict in South Sudan from July 2016, particularly affecting the Greater Equatoria region (along the border with Uganda and the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC)), caused a dramatic rise in the number of refugees, particularly to Uganda, in the latter half of 2016 and 2017.

The following sections expand in more detail on some of the contextual changes that have taken place across the region since 2016.

1.1 Uganda's evolving approach to refugee hosting

Uganda is now the largest refugee hosting nation in Africa. As of the end of 2018, it was reportedly hosting 1.2 million refugees and Bidi Bidi camp is now the largest in Africa; this actually represents a reduction on previous figures, largely thanks to verification of refugees revising the numbers downwards by 300,000 (UNHCR, 2019b). According to 2018 figures, around three-quarters of the refugees in Uganda are South Sudanese, with the second-largest group being from the DRC, and smaller numbers from Burundi and Somalia (Coggio, 2018).

Uganda is so far maintaining its extremely progressive policy on refugee hosting, where refugees are given land, food, materials for shelter and access to services on the same basis as Ugandan nationals. Refugees are integrated into Ugandan society and valued as economic contributors (Coggio, 2018). However, following the political crisis and resurgence of violence in South Sudan in July 2016, there was a dramatic increase in the number of refugees into the country and the system is now under severe strain, both in terms of government provision and of support from host communities. The refugee population in Uganda is centred in the already impoverished northwest of the country, an area that is also subject to environmental shocks, including drought and unpredictable rainfall, as well as environmental degradation. The Government of Uganda is working to develop more sustainable approaches to refugee hosting, and to move from a humanitarian and emergency approach to one that centres on long-term development, for both refugee and host populations. The Settlement Transformative Agenda (STA) was launched in 2016 and seeks to foster sustainable livelihoods for both refugee and host communities, directly linking to Uganda's National Development Plan. The Refugee and Host Population Empowerment Framework (ReHoPE), supported by the UN and the World Bank, promotes the transition from emergency refugee hosting measures to a "development-minded refugee response". It sets out a 30-70 Principle, whereby 30 per cent of all interventions targeting refugees must meet the needs of the host community; some humanitarian organisations, including UNHCR, are aiming for a 50-50 split. The shift to a more development-oriented focus is also problematic in some ways: in some areas, refugee response and distribution of aid have degraded local markets; significant differences have been found between the strength of local markets in areas of northern Uganda, where refugees receive cash assistance and/or develop their own livelihoods, and in those where they receive in-kind assistance, which undercuts local markets (Hemberger et al, 2018).

Some refugee settlements (such as Palorinya) are distant from markets and other services, with poor infrastructure and limited options for transportation and employment. Moreover, land allocations to refugees are often small and of poor quality. This limits the ability of refugees to benefit from development aid, particularly as a result of the focus on agriculture, which ignores the diversity of refugees' skills and interests (Krause, 2016). Concerns have also been raised about the limited ability of South Sudanese refugees to contribute to the economies of host nations in the region because of very low adult literacy levels (reported to be 27) (Lanciotti, 2019). Such issues, particularly those related to markets, have led to an increasing focus on cash-based aid. Support for adult education remains extremely limited.

In February 2018, revelations of misappropriation of refugee funds, implicating both the government and UNHCR, led some major donors (including the US and the EU) to threaten to withdraw support, and UNHCR to change its top-level representation. There were allegations that refugee numbers had been inflated, leading to the undertaking of a biometric identification exercise for refugees in 2018; this confirmed the allegations, with one particular settlement overestimating its numbers by 58 per cent.

Significant research has investigated the impact of refugees on the economy in Uganda. One study found that Ugandan populations living near settlements of Congolese refugees benefited in terms of

consumption and access to public services; however, they had negative perceptions of their own economic situation and felt alienated from the state, in favour of their own ethnic identity (Kreibaum, 2016). Research has also found that, while it is often assumed that refugees will increase competition for employment, in Kampala, Congolese and Somali refugees have developed their own economic spaces that are not in competition with indigenous ones while, at refugee sites, refugees' economic activities result in interdependence between refugees and host communities (Omata, 2018). However, some have noted that the shift towards reframing refugees as having an economic benefit for local economies in Uganda risks transforming them into "exploitable workers" (Ramsay, 2019).

Research has also shown that in Uganda localised and informal networks of support and protection exist, with established refugees helping those more newly arrived (Mukandayisenga, 2016), and communities playing a central role in supporting those forcibly internally displaced and then returning as a result of the activities of the Lord's Resistance Army (Dunovant, 2016).

1.2 Ethiopia's ongoing role as a hosting country, and early indications of more liberal migration policies

Ethiopia is the third-largest refugee hosting country in Africa, currently home to some 700,000 refugees, primarily Eritreans, Somalis, Yemenis and South Sudanese. Most refugees in Ethiopia are living in camps supported by UNHCR and managed by the Ethiopian government's Administration of Refugee and Returnee Affairs (ARRA). These are situated in rural areas, with limited opportunities to access services or to integrate into the local economy. Following returns of Somali refugees from Kenya, as of late 2018 Ethiopia was the country hosting the largest number of Somali refugees (UNHCR, 2019b).

The International Organization for Migration's (IOM) migration tracking in May 2019 reported that nearly three-quarters of cross-border movements for that month were outgoing, with the majority of incoming movements being Sudanese nationals. Eighty-two per cent of Ethiopians migrating claimed to be doing so for economic reasons (IOM DTM, 2019).

The ban on Ethiopians migrating to Saudi Arabia and other Arab countries put in place in 2013 was lifted in 2018; it is not yet clear what the results of this will be. Ethiopia also adopted new labour agreements with Saudi Arabia in 2017 and with the United Arab Emirates in 2018, aimed at regularising the flow of Ethiopians in search of labour opportunities in those countries (Freitag, 2019). Deportations, however, remained high during this period; IOM estimates that 260,000 Ethiopians returned to Ethiopia from Saudi Arabia between March 2017 and March 2019, and it registered 17,713 of these returnees as minors (IOM, 2019).

1.3 South Sudan's ongoing conflict continues to drive refugee movements

South Sudan remains the third largest country of origin for refugees in the region, with 2.3 million South Sudanese refugees reportedly living outside the country, the majority of them in neighbouring

countries, particularly Uganda (UNHCR, 2019b). Given the increasing strain on Uganda's refugee hosting policy, there are some indications that South Sudanese may be choosing to return to South Sudan from Uganda, as food is unavailable in the latter (Patinkin, 2017). However, IOM's May 2019 migration tracking found that more South Sudanese were entering Uganda than were leaving (IOM DTM, 2019).

Sixty-two per cent of the South Sudanese refugee population is under 18; as of May 2017, there were over 75,000 unaccompanied children in Uganda, Kenya and Ethiopia receiving refugee support services. Ethiopia is the second-largest hosting country of South Sudanese refugees, and has been working to strengthen refugee support, including working towards allowing some refugees to live outside camps, to work and to enrol in schools. Other countries hosting South Sudanese refugees include the Central African Republic (CAR), the DRC, Kenya and Sudan – in many cases, particularly in DRC, CAR and Sudan – they are in insecure locations that cannot be accessed by humanitarian workers. Very few South Sudanese refugees have settled beyond the region.

Hunger and drought have long been key drivers of displacement in South Sudan. In February 2017 the UN officially declared famine in two counties in the country; this was lifted four months later. Six million people in South Sudan are food insecure, and 1.1 million are malnourished. Continuing conflict has also driven internal and external displacement, and hampered attempts to deliver food.

The Government of South Sudan, supported by the EU (through the EU Emergency Trust Fund (EUTF) for Africa – in particular the Better Migration Management Programme), IOM, and the Government of Japan, among other donors, has been developing its first migration policy, the draft of which was endorsed by a stakeholders' panel in Juba in February 2019.

1.4 Eritrea's changing political context and migration fluctuations

While in 2015 Eritreans were the largest single group of migrants arriving in Italy, a significant reduction was seen from 2016 onwards. The reasons behind this reduction are unclear, but may be linked to: changes in migration patterns that have seen more Eritreans moving towards South Africa or the Arabian Peninsula; refugees being stuck in refugee camps in neighbouring areas (Ethiopia and Sudan); Eritreans joining existing expatriate communities in cities in the region, such as in Sudan and Egypt; increasing numbers of migrants being intercepted as they try to cross Egypt and Sudan; deaths along migration routes; and lower numbers leaving Eritrea for Europe (Frouws, 2017b). This downward trend has continued since 2016, albeit in the context of reduced total numbers of migrants reaching Europe (Botti, 2018). Alongside this, however, there was a notable spike in Eritreans entering Ethiopia when the borders between the two countries opened after the 2018 peace declaration: including more than 14,000 Eritrean refugees registered between September and October 2018 (UNHCR, 2018a).

Following the war between May 1998 and June 2000, Eritrea was in a state of 'frozen conflict' with Ethiopia for nearly two decades until both countries signed a declaration ending this situation on 9 July 2018. By clearly defining Eritrea's national border, the declaration was a key success for Eritrea's foreign policy, supporting the country's national identity with territorial integrity, although it is

unlikely to change the more fluid cross-border processes on the ground and it remains to be seen how the two governments will operationalise the declaration over the longer term (Müller, 2019). In addition, Eritrea's official state of conflict had been the justification for its national service for people aged 18 to 50. Under the 1995 Proclamation on National Service this was to be limited to 18 months but in reality could last up to a decade or more, and had been a major driver of forced migration from the country, as well as a factor in high rates of asylum claims from Eritreans being accepted. In 2017, Eritreans had the fourth-highest rate of acceptance of refugee status in the EU of any nationality, with over 95 per cent of claims for refugee status being granted. Eritreans continue to have a high rate of recognition of their asylum claims, at 82 per cent over the six months to August 2019, behind only Syria and Yemen (EASO, 2019b). National service is also a factor in the large numbers of unaccompanied minors among Eritrean migrants and refugees (Belloni, 2019a), and has resulted in a situation where it is suspected that not all those claiming to be Eritrean are in fact Eritrean, but may be Ethiopians, Djiboutians or Somalis (Runde, 2018). In the context of the peace agreement, there have been renewed calls for the Eritrean government to amend its strict national service policy, with hopes that this may lead to a subsequent drop in forced migration of Eritreans (Mwangi, 2018).

However, as of mid-2019, the national service situation had not been revisited. A recent EASO report cited Eritrean government calls for jobs creation as a precondition to reforming national service (EASO, 2019a). For the time being, exit visa requirements remain in place (with travel to Ethiopia an exception to this) and large numbers of Eritrean youth continue to migrate clandestinely, with 3,500 unaccompanied Eritrean minors seeking asylum in the EU in 2018 (UNHCR, 2019b). Belloni (2019a, p.13) found that there is evidence of children dropping out of school early so that they cannot be traced for national service, indicating how early decisions begin to be made. Migration reportedly remains "the main route out of generational and socio-economic immobility" for Eritrean young people, with research showing that they are proactive in their migration choices, often made without consulting their families (Belloni, 2019b). Patterns of Eritrean migration continue to show the effects of protection and migration policies in neighbouring countries: limited opportunities and protection in Libya and Egypt are pushing Eritrean migrants on to Europe (Horwood & Hooper, 2016).

1.5 Kenya's developing approach to refugee integration

A long-term host of refugees, particularly from Somalia and South Sudan, Kenya is now transforming its approach to refugee hosting and seeking more durable solutions. Devolution is reported to be a key mechanism for refugee integration, with county-level revenue raised through taxation enabling refugees' contribution to the local economy to be clarified; however, further economic integration is limited because work permits are only issued centrally (Majidi & Dadu-Brown, 2016).

Some research has found that refugee inflows have increased economic activity in areas close to Kakuma camp; household consumption in that area is 25 per cent higher than further away. This is thought to be thanks to the availability of new employment opportunities around Kakuma, and price changes in local markets that are favourable to local producers (Alix-Garcia et al, 2018). However, others note that Kakuma has disadvantaged the host community in terms of access to infrastructure

and of economic opportunity. As a result, Kenya has opened a new integrated settlement for 60,000 people, the Kalobeyei Integrated Social and Economic Development Program, which will run until 2030 and provide livelihood opportunities and infrastructure for both refugees and host communities. While it is too soon to see the results of this approach, the attitude of the local community is positive (Terada et al, 2017). However, funding for the settlement is reported to be a challenge, as is the ongoing drought in the Turkana region (Gebrekidan, 2017).

1.6 Gradual returns to Somalia

The number of Somali refugees is reported to be slowly declining as a result of verification exercises in Kenya, and also because of returns to Somalia from Kenya – in the context of uncertainty about the status of Dadaab refugee camp (Ombuor, 2019) – and (less often) returns from Yemen. At the end of 2018 the number of Somali refugees in the region was 949,700, representing a small decrease on 2017 numbers. Over 80 per cent of Somali refugees have remained in countries close to Somalia, with 18,800 in Uganda and 12,700 in Djibouti (UNHCR, 2019b). As of May 2019 IOM's migration tracking has reported roughly equal levels of inward and outward migration, which had also been the case earlier in the year. The largest single group of those tracked (32 per cent) claimed to be undertaking seasonal migration, with 18 per cent claiming to be undertaking conflict-driven migration, and 15 per cent economic migration.

1.7 Djibouti's ongoing position as a transit country

Djibouti reportedly remains primarily a transit country for migrants, with over 99 per cent of the movements tracked in Djibouti by IOM in May 2019 being of Ethiopian nationals, and a similarly high percentage claiming to be migrating for economic reasons (IOM DTM, 2019). In addition to this, Djibouti is retaining its open approach to refugees and currently hosting nearly 28,000 of them, 45 per cent of whom are from Somalia, 35 per cent from Ethiopia, 16 per cent from Yemen and 3 per cent from Eritrea (UNHCR Djibouti, 2019).

The recent political changes in Sudan are likely to have an impact on migration and migration patterns, although it appears to be too early to see analysis on the results of this.

1.8 Changing drivers of migration

Recent research has sought to problematise the sharp distinction made between 'forced' and 'voluntary' migration, which is often taken for granted in policy analysis and public debate. Academic research has contributed to a more nuanced understanding of the role of agency in migration decisions, going beyond the often two-dimensional conception of migrants and refugees as disempowered 'victims or villains'. This is linked to the idea in the Global North that migrants are expected to perform 'depoliticised suffering' to be worthy of rescue or support, while those demonstrating higher levels of agency are more likely to be viewed with suspicion and thus securitised (Mainwaring, 2016). Examples of agency discussed in the academic literature include unusual migration trajectories, which have developed in the face of increasingly restrictive migration policies in the Global North. An example is that of young Kenyan men taking advantage of female sex tourism to Kenya (among other African destinations) to marry European women and access visas

(Scheel, 2017). Belloni (2019a) highlights the importance of recognising agency, rather than simply vulnerability, in young Eritreans' decisions to migrate: migration is seen as a step to adulthood, and is a decision often made independent of the family. However, individual aspirations remain closely intertwined with structural factors, including communal values about family stability and wellbeing, and a context of protracted crisis. Massa (2018) also explores the ways in which Eritrean refugees and Ethiopian returnees on the border between the two countries manipulate legal labels and categories, and leverage the border as a resource for mobility.

Increasingly, research is finding that migrants are motivated by a complex mixture of drivers (Frouws & Horwood, 2019). Recent work by Van Hear et al (2018) suggests that a better understanding of migration flows would be gained by distinguishing between *predisposing*, *proximate*, *precipitating* and *mediating* drivers; these drivers can be both positive and negative, as well as both push and pull. Predisposing drivers are those that create a context where migration is more likely, for example structural issues such as political or economic disparities. Proximate drivers link to predisposing ones, but are more immediate: for example, a specific security or economic downturn. Precipitating drivers are those that actually trigger departure, and as such are linked to a specific event, such as an outbreak of conflict. Mediating drivers are those that enable or constrain migration, such as the availability of transport and networks, and so on (Van Hear et al, 2018).

A detailed report on global migration drivers published in 2018 found that the key such drivers are structural in nature and include the level of economic development in the country of origin, migrants' social networks and demographic change in the country of origin (Migall et al, 2018). Additional factors include the level of geographical and cultural difference between origin and destination countries (with migrants more likely to move to countries that are closer to their own country, geographically and culturally); the level of education of migrants; and the GDP of both destination and origin countries: rising GDP per capita in countries of origin leads to an initial increase in migration, and a subsequent decrease over time. In terms of demographic changes, countries with high fertility rates do not (yet) produce higher migration, but young people are found to express a greater intention to migrate, so a 'youth bulge' of migration can be expected in future. However, of the 20 per cent of people expressing a desire for migration, only 1 per cent actually take steps to migrate.

Where migration to the EU is concerned, the strongest pull factor appears to be the presence of people with a migration background in the target country, irrespective of their country of origin. Additional pull factors include the presence of families or people from the same country of origin, and a favourable labour market in the destination country.

While issues such as state fragility and conflict in origin countries affect the number of asylum claims, other drivers are also significant in terms of asylum claims, including levels of poverty in countries of origin, the presence of migration communities in destination countries, favourable economic conditions in destination countries and geographical vicinity.

These global findings are largely supported by specific research on migrants from the Horn of Africa. Data from the Mixed Migration Monitoring Mechanism Initiative (4Mi) project show that migration drivers are mixed and vary to some extent depending on the routes followed. Migrants from the Horn of Africa to North Africa, Europe and South Africa weighted economic drivers and violence roughly equally, with lack of rights, lack of services and personal and family reasons also being significant. Migrants from the Horn of Africa to Yemen weighted economic drivers much more highly, which may be linked to the domination of Ethiopians along this route, and the draw of Saudi Arabia as a destination for labour migration. The latter point demonstrates the specific draw of target destinations, with 93 per cent of those migrating towards Yemen and Saudi Arabia claiming to be doing so for employment and to send remittances home, while those from the Horn of Africa migrating to North Africa, Europe and South Africa display a more complex interaction of pull factors, including better living standards and increased rights and freedoms, along with better economic opportunities and the chance to send back remittances (Frouws & Horwood, 2019). The same data show that the largest single group of migrants made the decision to migrate themselves, with the next four largest categories being influences from friends and family. Of the respondents, 12 per cent claimed to have been influenced by smugglers, 9 per cent by diaspora and 2 per cent by social media. Between one- and two-thirds of respondents to the 4Mi research (depending on the stage of their migration journey) had experienced some form of violence on the journey; nonetheless, close to 70 per cent of them said they would choose to migrate again, even knowing what they now know, although nearly 60 per cent said they would not encourage others to migrate. In addition to the drivers outlined above, nearly 90 per cent of migrants along the route from the Horn of Africa to North Africa and Europe named corruption (in government, politics and the security services) as a major factor in their decision to leave. Another significant factor is the claim by 26 per cent of migrants from the Horn of Africa that they had had to bribe officials as part of their migration journey. The rates of bribery were reportedly higher on migration routes from West Africa through the Sahel than on routes from the Horn of Africa to Europe, but the average amount for Horn of Africa migrants was higher, at US\$219 per bribe for those travelling to North Africa, \$189 for those going to South Africa, and \$60 for those heading to Yemen or Saudi Arabia (Frouws & Brenner, 2019).

The sections below highlight specific and contextual drivers found in the literature.

The role of education as a driver for migration

Education is reported to correlate strongly with decisions to migrate: at a global level, the picture of the typical migrant is one of an educated young man (Migall et al, 2018). Studies in Ethiopia have found that higher levels of education are positively correlated with rural—urban migration, although this declines as the number of dependent household members increases (Tegegne & Penker, 2016). The current generation of Ethiopian youth is the first to receive primary education on a wide scale, which has coincided with an aspirational shift from rural livelihoods to urban professional ones, as well as with rapid urbanisation, and a change in internal migration patterns from rural—rural to rural—urban or urban—urban over the past decade. Those migrating to or from urban areas tend to be more highly educated than those migrating between rural areas; migrants are also reported to

receive higher returns on education than non-migrants. After employment, education is the second most common reason for rural—urban migration in Ethiopia. Two-thirds of the youth interviewed in Ethiopia as part of the Young Lives study stated that they wanted to migrate, and most of the 58 per cent of these with a destination in mind wanted to move to an urban centre in Ethiopia, while a minority wanted to migrate abroad. Education has been found to be "significantly and positively related to the aspiration to live elsewhere", with international migration aspirations highest among those with the highest educational attainment (Schewel & Fransen, 2018, p.568). Beyond this, a less clear correlation between wealth, education and the desire to migrate is likely to be linked to the diversification of international migration trajectories from Ethiopia: those seeking further education and highly paid work aim to migrate to Europe or North America, while those seeking domestic work aspire to migrate to the Middle East and those seeking lower-skilled employment (which tends to be irregular) to migrate to South Africa (Gavonel, 2017). Tertiary education is also a driver of internal migration in Ethiopia, with ethnically diverse university campuses acting in counterpoint to Ethiopia's rigid system of 'ethnic federalism' (Breines, 2019).

Beyond Ethiopia, tertiary education may be a determinant of out-migration in Kenya and Uganda, as 5 per cent of university graduates have been found to have left the sub-region in the 1990s and 2000s (Simson, 2019).

Research in Uganda and Ethiopia conducted by the REF showed that technical and vocational education and training (TVET) tended to increase people's interest in migrating, but mainly internally or to a neighbouring country rather than further afield. In Ethiopia, many respondents planned to move to other parts of the country in search of work. In Uganda, where many of the respondents were refugees from South Sudan, many graduates of TVET were interested in returning to their home country. In Ethiopia and Uganda, only very small numbers of respondents were thinking of moving further afield (fewer than six per cent), referring to Europe, the US and South Africa (REF, 2019a).

The role of employment and livelihoods

Research by the International Labour Organization (ILO) has found that youth unemployment has been rising in Ethiopia, including among educated youth, particularly in urban areas; this, combined with population pressure, has resulted in significant out-migration over recent years. Those most likely to migrate are young people aged 15 to 35 who lack employment or access to livelihoods. High levels of poverty and low wages also drive out-migration, while pull factors include socioeconomic opportunities, higher wages, and the existence of social networks and support systems (ILO, 2018). Academic research has found that unemployment is a migration driver for Ethiopian men and women alike, with urban unemployment of women more than double that of men. As a result, "emigration from Ethiopia has shown strong feminisation" in recent years, with 60 per cent of all Ethiopian migrants in 2014 being women (Bilgili et al, 2018). Dessiye and Emirie (2018) found that the primary driver for migration for Ethiopian female domestic labourers was employment opportunities in destination countries, with Saudi Arabia being particularly favoured thanks to its perceived quality of life and higher salaries. This is supported by Reda (2018), who notes that the

major factors driving the migration of Ethiopian women to the Middle East include the lack of job opportunities and limited income in Ethiopia, as well as false promises from brokers. The REF (2017b) study on migration between the Horn of Africa and Yemen also found that employment was the major driver for people making the perilous sea crossing to Yemen.

Lack of economic access in rural areas is also reported as a driver for rural—urban migration among Acholi youth in Uganda (Stites et al, 2019). The REF study on migration from rural areas to secondary cities in Ethiopia (Dire Dawa), Uganda (Gulu) and Kenya (Eldoret) also found that the mainly young migrants were drawn into the urban areas by the better job opportunities. It also noted that rural—urban migration created important linkages between origin and destination areas, helping to spread risk and providing a critical safety net for rural populations, especially in politically unstable landscapes. In this way, rural—urban migration plays an important role in strengthening livelihoods in both rural and urban areas (REF, 2018b).

There have been attempts to provide more access to economic opportunities and livelihoods within Ethiopia, as a means of deterring economically driven migration. Hardy and Hauge (2019) report that Ethiopia's state-led industrialisation has driven economic success, but weakened the power of labour: in the absence of collective action, there is significant turnover of the industrial workforce, to which the Ethiopian state has responded with restrictions on emigration. International investment has also supported the creation of livelihood opportunities, such as the development of rural flower farms for women's employment as a way of deterring economically driven migration. However, while these opportunities alleviate some economic pressure, they remain low-wage and cannot bring about the same sort of significant economic and social changes to families, and in particular to young women, that international migration to the Middle East is believed to enable (Schewel, 2018). In terms of scale, these opportunities remain insufficient given the high numbers of unemployed young people in the region.

The role of the family as a migration driver

Internal migration among young people in Ethiopia is reported to be driven by concerns such as family formation and family reunion, as well as by education and employment (Gavonel, 2017). In contrast, family disputes are reported to be a push factor in driving rural—urban migration among Acholi youth in Uganda, particularly for female migrants, who also mention physical and sexual abuse as a driver (Stites et al, 2019). Research among Somali refugees in Dagahaley camp in Kenya also shows the presence of relatives as a key aspirational driver in terms of their desire for onward migration to destinations such as the US — particularly Minnesota, where the largest Somali American community — is located, despite the fact that very few Somali refugees are resettled from Kenya (around 1 per cent in 2014) (Ikanda, 2018).

Land access as a migration driver

Inadequate access to land is reported as a key driver of rural—urban migration among Acholi youth in Uganda. Most rural—urban migrants retain strong economic, livelihood, social and emotional ties to their rural places of origin, with those who do not, especially women, being the most vulnerable

(Stites et al, 2019). In contrast, in Ethiopia research has found that there is a weak correlation between migration and access to land (Mueller and Schmidt, 2016).

Climate change as a driver for migration

Research has not yet established a solid direct correlation between climate change impacts and international migration. However, it is believed that this will become increasingly significant in future, with slow-onset climate events (such as a rise in droughts) driving migration from rural to urban areas, and fast-onset climate events (such as flooding) driving temporary migration. Northern, eastern and western Africa are all expected to be increasingly affected by the effects of climate change, and thus to become sources of increasing climate change migration, in future (Migall et al, 2018). Schraven et al (2019) state that the effects of climate change in sub-Saharan Africa are linked to rainfall variability and increases in flooding and droughts, which may have consequences in terms of labour migration and forced displacement, but the situation is highly contextual.

South Sudan in particular has been identified as one of the ten most climate change-vulnerable countries in the world, with increasing rural—urban migration identified as a likely potential impact, alongside increased conflict (American Security Project, 2019). Schraven et al (2019) note that the risk of forced migration resulting from climate change within Sub-Saharan Africa is highest in the Horn of Africa, but many climate-affected households are 'trapped', either with mobility not an option at all or, if it is, with only individual or circular labour migration, rather than long-term, household-level migration an option.

In the broader Horn of Africa area, droughts and the resulting food scarcity are repeatedly mentioned as a potential driver of migration in various areas, including from Ethiopia to the Arabian Peninsula, and from South Sudan to Uganda, although it is not clear whether such droughts are direct impacts of climate change (WFP, 2017). It is thought that climate change indirectly influences migration in Africa by affecting other drivers of it; however it is highly contextual and hard to predict (Borderon et al, 2018).

Analysis of the numbers of out-migrants from the drought-affected countries in the Horn of Africa in mid-2017 does not necessarily support the idea that drought causes increases in international migration, as declining numbers of migrants from drought-affected countries were seen on both the route from the Horn of Africa to the Arabian Peninsula and the route to Europe, despite an overall increase in migrant numbers on both routes. It seems more likely that, while drought was a driver of internal migration, and in particular of rural to urban movement, during this period (eg with 700,000 Somalis internally displaced because of drought, but only 6,000 crossing international borders during the same period), it was more likely to have contributed to a decline in international migration, because of the constrained household resources available for costly international migration processes (Akumu & Frouws, 2017). Historical analysis of whether climatic changes from 1963 to 2014 had an impact on increased conflict and displacement in East Africa found that climate

¹ This is also supported by the REF study on migration between the Horn of Africa and Yemen, which found few respondents citing drought as a reason for moving (REF, 2017b).

variations and temperature did not significantly affect regional conflict or displacement; drivers of conflict in fact were population growth, economic growth and the relative stability of political regimes (Owain & Maslin, 2018). However, climatic variation, especially severe droughts, did have an impact on refugees crossing borders during this time.

Militarised economies as a context-specific migration driver

In the border regions between Sudan and South Sudan, the highly militarised economy limits livelihood opportunities, causing significant out-migration to Khartoum and Juba, particularly for men (Kindersley & Majock, 2019).

Social media as a migration driver

Evidence collected in 2016 shows that smugglers make active use of social media (Facebook, WhatsApp, Viber, and so on) to give information to people in the Horn of Africa wishing to migrate (UNHCR, 2016). Migrants themselves use social networks to help them find information about routes, smugglers, and so on (RMMS, 2016).

The exposure of migrants to already successful migrants and diaspora in destination countries through social networking and smartphone usage is not only a factor in making the decision to migrate, but also means that migrants are likely to be aware to some extent of what to expect from smugglers and the journey itself. Horwood and Hooper (2016) note the particular influence of social media on Eritrean migrants.

Gender inequality as a migration driver

Gender inequality in Ethiopia has been found to be one driver affecting women's decisions to migrate: in particular, girls' educational achievements are hampered by their domestic responsibilities, and poor school results have been found to be a direct driver of migration. Some cases have been reported of parents forcing their daughters to marry young and then to divorce as a means of fulfilling cultural expectations, so that when they subsequently migrate to the Middle East their remittances will be sent to their birth families rather than to their husbands' relatives (Bilgili et al, 2018). Ethiopian women's migration to the Middle East has also been reported to be a way to avoid early marriage (Schewel, 2018).

Theme 2:

Movement and mobility structures and patterns

This section outlines a number of developments in migration patterns within and from the Horn of Africa, including changing routes to Europe and the Middle East, as well as return migration. It also looks at financial flows through remittances.

2.1 A significant increase in internal displacement in Ethiopia

As of October 2018, there were 2.8 million internally displaced persons (IDPs) in Ethiopia, compared with 291,000 in July 2012; this increase has primarily been caused by environmental changes such as droughts and floods, inter-communal tension and resource or border conflicts, with conflict accounting for 70 per cent of cases of displacement. Ethiopia's Somali Regional State accounts for the largest number of IDPs, with one-sixth of the people in the region having been displaced. Most responses to date have been emergency or humanitarian in nature, and significant challenges remain, in part because humanitarian actors do not have complete access to many IDP-affected areas in Ethiopia. The government is now starting to develop more mechanisms to meet IDPs' short-and long-term needs, both humanitarian and developmental. In October 2017, the Somali Regional State developed a regional durable solutions strategy, spearheaded by the Durable Solutions Working Group: this is the first framework in Ethiopia to target internal displacement (Habte & Kweon, 2018).

2.2 Bi-directional flows between Somalia and Yemen

Two-way migration flows between Yemen and Somalia are reportedly ongoing, with many of the hundreds of thousands of Somali refugees that had been hosted in Yemen returning to Somalia since the intensification of the conflict in the latter, together with Yemeni nationals seeking refuge (REF, 2017b). Reception centres for arrivals from Yemen have been set up in Bossaso (Puntland) and Berbera (Somaliland). These areas and the South Central region of Somalia have all been willing to take back returning Somali refugees, but have been pushing them to return to their regions of origin, even if the factors causing their initial displacement still exist there. There are limited overarching policies and frameworks in place to support returnees' reintegration. Meanwhile, Yemenis are challenging UNHCR's encampment approach, believing that it will disempower them, and preferring instead to self-settle in urban centres and link with existing Yemeni populations. Yemeni Diaspora

Chapters in Hargeisa and Mogadishu are tracking the arrival of Yemenis arriving, and are supporting them (Mohamud, 2016). This is linked to longstanding links between Somalia and Yemen, particularly in coastal regions, connected with fishing, and unofficial freedom of movement between the two countries: an attempt by the UAE to impose the use of ID documents for Somali fishing boats landing in Yemen was short-lived thanks to local resistance (Majid & Abdirahman, 2019).

2.3 Increasing migration from the Horn of Africa to Yemen and beyond

In parallel to the bi-directional flows between Somalia and Yemen, a record number of migrants and asylum seekers arrived in Yemen in 2016, despite the conflict and the worsening humanitarian crisis in the country. Eighty-three per cent of arrivals as of November 2016 were Ethiopians; there was also a large number of Somalis, who had reportedly travelled overland to Obock in Djibouti or to Bossaso, and then across the Red Sea or the Gulf of Aden, assisted by smugglers. It was initially expected that the escalation of the conflict in Yemen from March 2015 onwards would divert migration routes from that country; however, migration to Yemen has actually increased, and the expected diversion of Horn of Africa migrants to other destinations, such as Europe or South Africa, appeared not to have taken place, or to have been extremely marginal, as of late 2016.

The increased flows of Ethiopian migrants to or through Yemen in 2016 were probably linked to the Oromo protests (with Oromos forming a greater part of those migrating), as well as to drought (Frouws, 2016).

While rates of migration to Yemen have reportedly fluctuated over the past few years, 2019 has seen another spike in arrivals of East African migrants and refugees, with 84,378 estimated to have arrived in the first six months of 2019. IOM's migration tracking from May 2019 shows an increase in migrants reporting their intentions to migrate to Saudi Arabia and Yemen, with the number intending to travel to Saudi Arabia (46 per cent) more than doubling the figures from April 2019 (21 per cent) (IOM DTM, 2019). Around 90 per cent of arrivals are Ethiopians, and the remaining 10 per cent are Somalis; they are primarily young men, but around 20 per cent are women and children. It is thought that this migration is driven by high levels of unemployment and political insecurity in the countries of origin, as well as by employment prospects in Saudi Arabia, which is understood to be the destination country of most of these migrants.

Yemen's fragility, as a result of war, has weakened its central institutions, including its borders, and opened up new avenues for smugglers, as well as increasing the perception among potential migrants that there will be ease of movement into Yemen and onwards into Saudi Arabia; this is the same pattern that has taken place in Libya since 2013. Migrants are reported to be travelling to ports in Djibouti and Puntland, whereupon passage across the Red Sea or the Gulf of Aden is supported by smugglers. All three parts of the journey are perilous: travelling across the Horn of Africa to reach ports; crossing the Red Sea or the Gulf of Aden (there were reports from August 2017 of smugglers forcing migrants off the boat at gunpoint close to the coast of Yemen, resulting in many drowning (Botti & Horwood, 2017) and 274 deaths were recorded on sea journeys to Yemen in 2018 (Botti & Phillips 2019)); and travelling across the desert to towns in Yemen or to the border with Saudi Arabia. On arrival in Yemen, irregular migrants are particularly at risk of exploitation and detention,

with Aden becoming a 'detention hub' for Ethiopian and Somali migrants and refugees.

The routes chosen by Ethiopian migrants are strongly gendered, with 68 per cent of those migrating to the Middle East being female; the latter also tend to make less arduous journeys to destination countries (as they are more likely to fly directly than to travel overland), but are more likely to face hardships and abuse on arrival (Bilgili et al, 2018). Dessiye and Emirie (2018) found that migration of female domestic workers from Ethiopia to the Middle East was processed through *hajj* and *umrah* (pilgrimage) travel arrangements, facilitated by existing networks of Ethiopian women in Saudi Arabia, which made it easier to find jobs. Illegal employment agencies also had a role in facilitating migration.

In addition to the dangers of the journey, migrants are at risk of exploitation and deportation if they manage to reach Saudi Arabia, other Gulf States or Lebanon, which is a major employer of Ethiopian domestic workers. Saudi Arabia has a history of sporadic deportations of all illegal workers (in 2013–14 and again in 2017–19), as a means of reducing reliance on foreign workers, limiting unrest and stemming the flow of remittances out of the country; however, the country continues to rely on immigrant labour and those expelled quickly return to meet demand. Interviews with deported Ethiopians indicate that they were detained for long periods in very poor conditions, with widespread allegations of abuse. Reda (2018) reports that 85 per cent of Ethiopian women working in the Middle East have been trafficked, while Dessiye and Emirie (2018) found that Ethiopian women employed as domestic workers in the Gulf States and Lebanon were in very insecure situations because of the lack of regulation of this work in the destination countries. They were vulnerable to abuse, including that related to their ethnic and religious identity. Growth in demand for Ethiopian domestic workers is reported to be linked to rising wage demands from Asian domestic workers and bilateral and regional agreements aimed at better protecting Asian workers' rights, with employers seeking cheaper and less regulated sources of labour (Zewdu, 2018).

During the 2013–14 deportations, Ethiopia significantly underestimated the number of Ethiopians who would be returning from Saudi Arabia; for the 2017 deportations, much higher numbers were planned for, supported by IOM (Frouws, 2017a). IOM estimates that by July 2019, 300,000 Ethiopians had been deported from Saudi Arabia. Those labour migrants in the country with previously valid visas are also at risk, with Saudi Arabia revoking all visas for Ethiopian housemaids in May 2019 (Al-Diyabi, 2019).

Despite the various risks of the journey, information from IOM indicates that migrants are aware of the risks they are taking but consider that the economic opportunities in Saudi Arabia outweigh them. In addition, the journey is reportedly cheap, costing less than \$600, in comparison to much more expensive routes from the Horn of Africa to North Africa, Europe or South Africa (Botti & Phillips, 2019).

2.4 Return migration from the Middle East to Ethiopia

A significant amount of academic literature has investigated return migrants in Ethiopia, particularly women returning from domestic labour in the Middle East. Research paints a varied picture of

migrants' lives following return. Fentaw (2018) reports that remittances and savings from migration to the Middle East were primarily spent on basic needs rather than saved, and most returnees were either at the same or a lower socioeconomic level than they had been before migrating. Dessiye and Emirie (2018) also report that the need to repay debts related to the cost of migration affects the ability of female Ethiopian labour migrants to the Middle East to save. In contrast, Gomes (2018) found that the subject of her life-history research, Meseret, a female Ethiopian return migrant, had experienced an increase in status on return, thanks to her ability to spend the money that she had earned on high-status items. Meseret stated that, despite the various humiliations and anxieties she suffered while working in Saudi Arabia, she would advise other Ethiopian women to follow the same path. While it may not be representative, this detailed case study shows how labour migration can result in upward social mobility for some women on return to Ethiopia. A survey of returned Ethiopian migrant domestic workers found a number of facilitators of a positive migration experience, including conforming to cultural and behavioural expectations in the Middle East, learning Arabic, making use of domestic appliances in the place of work, showing confidence and assertiveness, and having links to external forms of communication (such as mobile phones and local SIM cards) (Busza et al, 2017). Further research has found that female return migrants from the Middle East to Ethiopia have significantly worse perceptions of their living conditions on return, which is thought to be linked to their migration experiences (Bilgili et al, 2018). Reda (2018) reports that Ethiopian women returning from the Middle East face ongoing issues related to post-traumatic stress, linked to their migration experience. There remains limited evidence on practices that may foster safer migration experiences, and recent research calls for policy and programming to make better use of migrants' own knowledge of migration (Busza et al, 2017).

2.5 Return migration to Somalia

An examination of return migration to Somalia by the REF (2018a) has found it to be driven by a number of factors, including negative pressures in locations of displacement (such as the uncertainty around the future of Kenya's Dadaab camp), as well as optimism about return. Most returnees to Somalia were returning to cities, in the belief that they would be able to access more support there, although this was not usually the case; nearly half of them expressed the intention to return to their (generally rural) place of origin at some point, when the time was right. A case study looking at displaced Somalis and the host population living in Nairobi, and at Somali returnees to Mogadishu and Baidoa highlights the importance of responses that focus on the self-reliance and resilience of the affected populations, while noting that such approaches are easier in more stable and developed contexts such as Nairobi, rather than in places where there are ongoing cycles of insecurity and where state services are lacking (ReDDS, 2018).

2.6 The role of smugglers and traffickers

Tighter immigration controls have reportedly increased migrants' reliance on smugglers (Crawley et al, 2016). Eighty-six per cent of migrants from the Horn of Africa to South Africa use smugglers, as do 66 per cent of those from the Horn of Africa to North Africa and Europe. Smugglers make migration an option for more people, thus 'democratising' migration (Frouws & Horwood, 2019). Research shows that smuggling networks from the Horn of Africa are vibrant and organised, and involve

government officials either directly or indirectly, as their cooperation is needed for smuggling to continue. Migration via smugglers is costly, with an average pre-departure spend of \$1036 per migrant, and an average expenditure of \$2731 on bribes and extortion. Migration along smuggling networks is mixed, including both forced and economic migrants (Davy, 2017).

Information collected through 4Mi indicates that 50 per cent of the incidents of violence against migrants are perpetrated by smugglers; however, this overall statistic masks variations in specific routes. Among migrants travelling from the Horn of Africa to North Africa and Europe, smugglers are the most common cause of violence, being responsible for 76 per cent of incidents. By contrast, among those moving from the Horn of Africa to Yemen and Saudi Arabia, smugglers were only responsible for 19 per cent of incidents, the third-highest group after 'single unknown individuals' at 41 per cent, and security forces at 27 per cent. While this is likely to be linked to the different nature of the journey, these statistics may also be affected by the much smaller sample size of incidents for the latter group of migrants, at 93 incidents compared to 3204 incidents in the former group (Frouws & Horwood, 2018). This reinforces earlier data collected in 2015, which showed similarly high rates of violence perpetrated by smugglers, with 76 per cent having experienced violence from smugglers and 29 per cent having witnessed someone die along the route. While the specific activities carried out by smugglers vary somewhat, they appear to be within a 'chain of diminishing trust', with closer relationships between smugglers and migrants from the same country (Frouws & Horwood, 2018).

Irregular migrants from the Horn of Africa through North Africa on the route to Europe are most at risk of abuse from smugglers, and from the officials they encounter along the way. Research shows that the migrants themselves are aware of the risks that smugglers pose and are prepared to take them; data gathered through 4Mi indicate that 10 per cent of initial contacts between migrants and smugglers were initiated by the smuggler, with 87 per cent of migrants choosing instead to contact smugglers directly, or through friends and relatives (Horwood, 2016).

Experiences with smugglers appear to be strongly contextual. Somali migrants report that smugglers are members of local communities, with smuggling being maintained through community connections and family ties. However, the social organisation of smuggling weakens the further people get from their homes (Majidi, 2018). This is supported by research into the Somali phenomenon of *tahriib*, ie youth migration to Europe via Ethiopia, Sudan and Libya: smugglers operate on a leave-now-pay-later basis, which allows for migration to be an individual decision, as there is no need to gather funds from the family at the point of departure. However, migrants are generally held for ransom at later points in their journey: families reportedly pay an average of \$7,700 on *tahriib*-related expenses, the majority of which is spent on ransom (Ali, 2016). In contrast, smugglers of Eritrean refugees exiting through Ethiopia, who are often migrants or former migrants themselves, reportedly function as supportive communities and try to minimise violence against migrants. Smuggling from Eritrea is understood as a 'socially embedded collective practice', seeking to facilitate the safe migration of Eritreans in a context of migration criminalisation (Mengiste, 2018).

2.7 The role of social media along migration journeys

The use of social media and smartphones has an impact along migration journeys. Those who have reached Europe use social media or phones to contact migrants who are still in Libya; these then often relay information back to those still in their home countries (Wittenberg, 2017). Research shows that migrants who have phones are less reliant on smugglers while on their journeys, as they are able to make contact with others (Frouws & Horwood, 2018). However, the use of social media may also pose a risk on arrival – Norway, for example, is reported to be increasingly using data from applicants' social media in its asylum claim assessments, and other countries may follow suit (Brekke & Staver, 2019).

2.8 Remittance flows and the diaspora

The dependence of the economies of Somalia and Somaliland on remittances is widely known. In 2016, remittances to Somalia (including Somaliland) were estimated at \$1.4 billion per year, 23 per cent of Somalia's GDP; however, only 40 per cent of households receive them, and there are broad regional variations: Puntland and Somaliland reportedly receive higher value amounts than South Central Somalia, at \$254 per month on average, compared to \$191 in South Central. In addition, rural areas in South Central are less likely to receive remittances at all (although there is some secondary distribution of remittances from urban to rural relatives, so remittances are not an entirely urban phenomenon). Remittances are reported to be closely linked to resilience at household level, with lack of access to remittances reported to have increased the vulnerability of some households to famine in 2011. Remittances also enable access to credit, increase households' purchasing power, and enable diversification of their nutritional intake. Remittances are reportedly linked to individual people, and as such are likely to be highly variable (Majid, 2018). One focus of World Bank support to Somalia since 2016 has been to strengthen its banking system, as its deficiencies have in the past led to international transfers from the Global North to Somalia being shut down, thus disrupting remittances, with significant effects on the population (World Bank, 2016). In Somaliland alone, remittances are estimated at between \$500 and \$900 million per year, representing 35–70 per cent of GDP; however, they are essentially unsustainable, as people in the diaspora are ageing and the remitting behaviour of second-generation migrants is not well understood (but they are expected to send less than their parents do) (Pegg & Walls, 2018).

Remittances are also reported as having a political role in Somaliland. Over the past several years, political parties there have been increasingly linked to clans, which has polarised diaspora communities. The parties have become increasingly dependent on diaspora remittances for funding, which has increased division and affected coexistence inside Somaliland. As a result, the 2017 election was more bitterly contested than previous elections, since political parties allied themselves with diaspora along clan lines as a means of accessing remittance funds (Abokor & Ali, 2018).

Belloni (2019a) notes the important symbolic role of diaspora in supporting people in Eritrea during the country's struggle and the continuing role of remittances; these factors lead to young Eritreans growing up admiring emigrants, which may factor into their decisions to migrate. Cole (2019) reflects more ambivalent attitudes among Eritreans towards those who have emigrated, and explores both

the ways government narratives about migration affect personal experiences and perspectives, and how citizens – including those opposed to the current regime – play a role in constituting authoritarian power.

In terms of internal remittances, Abdelmoniem and Litchfield (2016) have found that, on average, rural migrant-sending households in Ethiopia have improved living standards, although this is not evenly distributed, and poorer households actually experience a decline in living standards.

Theme 3:

Changing policy and programmes

This section seeks to highlight some key policy and programmatic developments over the past three years, including some national policy shifts in countries of reception, noting ongoing changes in narratives around transnational migration.

3.1 Current challenges to supporting migrants in the Horn

A review of best practice within projects seeking to support migrants in Africa found that the success of a project is highly contextual, and as such should be based on detailed market, political and policy mapping, as well as on the knowledge of migrants, refugees, host communities and other key actors. Successful projects also promote refugees' human and economic rights, are highly adaptable (based on rigorous monitoring and evaluation), and should document and analyse the costs of refugee self-sufficiency and resilience (Millington & Bhardwaj, 2017).

Despite this, EU approaches to managing migration in the Horn of Africa often reveal a tension between concerns with preventing irregular migrants from reaching Europe and supporting migrants and refugees. This tension is seen in the Migration Partnership Framework, which was announced in June 2016 (European Commission, 2016), with countries of origin and transit for migrants, and offers a mixture of positive and negative incentives to curb migration. It has been criticised by human rights activists for outsourcing the management of Europe's borders and designing its foreign policy around the prevention of migration (Akumu, 2016).

One of the Migration Partnership Framework's priority countries is Ethiopia, which is a key migration hub, important for transit, hosting and sending migrants. While it is not the most important country of concern in the Horn of Africa, it was thought by the EU to be the most promising potential partner. However, the EU migration partnership with Ethiopia has faced challenges to implementation: the EU reported "very limited" cooperation on returns, with 145 effective voluntary returns facilitated in 2016, followed by slow operational progress processing selected pilot cases for identification and return after 17 months (European Commission, 2017). Others have analysed this slow progress, critiquing the framework for focusing too heavily on returns, and remaining at odds with Ethiopia's own priorities and concerns, such as supporting displaced populations within the region (Castillejo, 2017). The focus on returns has also resulted in claims that non-refoulement principles may have been breached. There are further worries that the EU's efforts to try and limit migration to Europe may influence refugee-hosting countries: "Refugee-hosting countries such as

Ethiopia are closely watching the European Union's policies toward refugees, and efforts to limit protection in Europe may have a chilling effect on the willingness of developing nations to host refugee populations if they perceive themselves to be bearing a disproportionate burden" (Collett & Ahad, 2017).

One element of bilateral support for Ethiopia from the UK, the EU and other donors has come in the form of the Ethiopia Jobs Compact, which seeks to support that country's industrialisation through the creation of over 100,000 jobs, including 30,000 for refugees, in the manufacturing sector, with a particular focus on jobs in textiles for young women (Devtracker, 2019a). Launched in December 2017, it is too early to see the results of the project, as the only existing Annual Review, dated January 2019, states that it is still in the start-up phase. It does, however, highlight a number of early successes, primarily around negotiations and agreements with the Ethiopian government, including on the development of frameworks for refugee protection (Devtracker, 2019b). Perhaps the most significant development has been the issuing of Proclamation No 1110/2019 which, once implemented, will grant enhanced rights to many refugees, including the right to work, travel and receive services commensurate with those for nationals. However, research into the role of employment as a driver of migration, discussed above under Theme 1, shows the limited effect of local, particularly low-wage job creation in curbing international migration from Ethiopia.

3.2 The role of international actors in 'borderwork'

Within the context of international support for migrants and managed migration, international organisations and humanitarian actors are reportedly taking on quasi-political roles in some contexts. Frowd (2018) examines the growing role of intergovernmental organisations such as the IOM in the governance of borders in countries such as South Sudan, situating IOM as a 'developmental borderwork' actor, with practices underpinned by humanitarian and development approaches, as well as a technical best practice focus, but operating in the context of continuing tensions between humanitarianism, state building and state sovereignty. IOM's work in Djibouti, particularly around building capacity for migration management, has also reportedly worked to strengthen state sovereignty by enhancing the government's ability to exclude irregular migrants from its territory, and by strengthening its governance over its own citizens when entering the country (Dini, 2018).

The potential role of humanitarian actors is even more significant in situations where borders are more fluid, as Jansen (2018) points out in the context of humanitarian programmes dealing with forced displacement in the disputed region of Abyei, on the border of Sudan and South Sudan. These programmes have arguably become politicised in the border dispute, and may have an eventual role in shaping its outcome.

3.3 The impact of the Comprehensive Refugee Response Framework (CRRF) on countries of origin

The CRRF was adopted in September 2016, and informed the Global Compact on Refugees (GCR), which was affirmed by UN Member States in December 2018. Both the CRRF and GCR have at their

heart the idea of community inclusion for refugees, with camps being seen as a last resort (UNHCR, 2019a). The CRRF has four key objectives: to reduce the pressures experienced by host countries; to improve the self-reliance of refugees; to expand the access of refugees to third-country solutions to displacement; and to improve conditions in refugee-producing countries. Thanks to Uganda's progressive refugee policy, and its position as the third-largest refugee-hosting nation in the world, it was chosen by UNHCR as a pilot country for the CRRF. This was followed by a Solidarity Summit on Refugees, co-hosted by UNHCR and the Government of Uganda in June 2017, seeking \$2 billion in funding for the CRRF in Uganda. Despite significant high-profile interest in the event, only \$350 million was raised in pledges, with 82 per cent of these coming from the EU and its member states. Among non-traditional and private sector donors, \$500,000 was pledged by China, while the largest private-sector pledge was \$1 million, from an African telecommunications company (Coggio, 2018).

Other countries in the region where the CRRF is being implemented are Djibouti, Ethiopia, Kenya and Somalia. In each of these countries, the dynamics reflect the different situations with displaced populations. However, with support from the Intergovernmental Authority on Development (IGAD), these countries have been focusing more on learning from and sharing experience with each other. Following ministerial agreements on education and jobs/livelihoods, these areas have been particularly subject to attention within the region (by both CRRF and non-CRRF countries) (REF, 2019b). In the case of Somalia, in March 2017, Heads of States adopted the Nairobi Declaration on Durable Solutions for Somali Refugees and Reintegration of Returnees in Somalia, along with its Plan of Action. These seek to take a regional approach to finding solutions to the protracted Somali migration crisis (UNHCR, 2018c). Other regional agreements and approaches include the Djibouti Declaration on Regional Refugee Education, adopted in December 2017 and committing to integration of refugees in national education plans, and the Kampala Declaration on Jobs, Livelihoods and Self-reliance for Refugees, Returnees and Host Communities in the IGAD Region, adopted in March 2019, which commits to advancing livelihood opportunities and economic inclusion for refugees (UNHCR, 2018b).

The CRRF has been successful in leveraging support from other donors, for example Germany's support for a range of livelihoods projects through a variety of implementers in the refugee-hosting parts of northern Uganda (Federal Ministry (BMZ), 2018); support from other donors such as SIDA (Sweden) and JICA (Japan) also focuses on livelihoods and resilience.

The CRRF is also supporting activities in Ethiopia, for example funding from Germany to support refugee education and to drive policy changes within the country. Ethiopia started recording refugee life events in its civil registry in October 2017, representing an increasing integration of refugees into society (Salant, 2017).

3.4 EU policy towards tackling migration transit countries

The development of funding instruments supporting new frameworks and projects addressing migration issues in areas of origin and transit has become an important part of the EU's overall policy towards tackling irregular migration since 2015. This expanding external action has run alongside continued internal funding for reception, management and integration within the EU. Research suggests that this increasing 'externalisation' of European migration control is resulting in

the empowerment of third countries, which are able to use migration issues in international negotiations. These approaches use the humanitarian and neoliberal logic of governing migration to complement securitisation policies, thus stabilising and strengthening the trans-Mediterranean migration regime (Bartels, 2017).

The Khartoum Process, established in 2014, is an international dialogue between the African Union and the European Union (Member States, European Commission and External Action Service) to combat migrant trafficking and smuggling from the Horn of Africa through transit countries to Europe (Khartoum Process, 2016a). This has given rise to a number of initiatives to support the process. For example, the Regional Development Protection Programme (RDDP) for the Horn of Africa, a flagship programme of the Valletta Action Plan, was launched in 2015, funded by the EU and led by The Netherlands. Focusing on Sudan, Ethiopia and Kenya, as they are the countries hosting large numbers of refugees from Somalia, Eritrea and South Sudan, the stated aim of the RDDP is to "create evidence-based, innovative and sustainable protection and development approaches for refugees and their host communities", through four pillars:

- 1. capacity building of authorities;
- 2. protection of refugees (particularly vulnerable groups);
- 3. promoting access to integrated services for refugees and the host population;
- 4. supporting socioeconomic development (Khartoum Process, 2016b).

However, recent studies have criticised the Khartoum Process in relation to both its execution and concept. In execution, some have claimed that, despite its stated aims to tackle irregular migration in Sudan, it has primarily functioned as a means to try and strengthen borders, effectively outsourcing migration management from Europe. They have also questioned the very idea of trying to strengthen borders in an area where ethnic groups often straddle borders and migrate back and forth at will (Lindsay, 2019). Since 2016, the EU has been criticised by human rights campaigners for providing support to repressive regimes through the provision of equipment intended to strengthen border processes in transit countries such as Sudan, despite the potential for such equipment to be used for repression (Akumu, 2016). Notwithstanding these criticisms, bilateral support in many cases continues to focus on increased securitisation of migration routes. An example is the UK's East Africa Migration Programme, led by the Foreign and Commonwealth Office (FCO), Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) and National Crime Agency (NCA). The programme's stated aims are to disrupt organised crime in East Africa by strengthening law enforcement and community engagement and providing policy and technical support.

Oette and Babiker (2017) have shown that there are systemic weaknesses in Sudan's law that hamper its ability to "manage migration" effectively or in accordance with human rights: for example, in its approach to summary deportations without access to asylum processes. Writing in 2017 on the first phase of the Khartoum Process, they also argue that the Process undermines the EU's external policy: Article 21(1) of the Treaty on European Union provides that the EU's international actions shall be guided by a set of principles, including human rights, whereas the Khartoum Process takes a "managerial, project-based approach", rather than a rights-based one (Oette & Babiker, 2017).

Additional research by Crawley and Blitz (2019) has reiterated concerns around the lack of rights-based language and practice under the Khartoum Process. Their survey of and interview data from refugees and migrants from the Horn of Africa arriving in Europe suggest that "It is ultimately the ability of refugees and other migrants to secure access to rights and protection that will remove, or at least reduce, a perception that these are only to be found elsewhere" (Crawley & Blitz, 2019, p 2272). The researchers call for the EU to use its resources to re-centre rights in its migration management processes, rather than focusing on security and border management in origin and transit countries. In mid-2019, the EU put on hold the capacity-building components of its programmes, which worked with Sudanese government institutions, citing political and security concerns (European Commission, nd).

3.5 Regional approaches to migration governance

The role of regional mechanisms such as the IGAD in the Horn of Africa in managing migration is receiving increasing recognition. Dick and Schraven's (2018) exploration of migration governance by the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS) and IGAD indicates that these regional bodies are well placed for regional migration governance, albeit with different strengths – for example, IGAD focuses on informal cooperation between member states, while ECOWAS has strong formal powers to enforce regional policies. Both bodies are in need of enhanced financial and technical support to strengthen their ability to manage migration.

Conclusion

This overview of new literature on the links between migration, development and conflict in the Horn of Africa can only give a partial picture, highlighting those issues that have been most prominent in the past three years and paying less attention to chronic concerns, where there may have been fewer new insights to report. These ongoing issues are covered in the previous REF literature review (REF, 2017a). By way of conclusion, we highlight some areas where research is still lacking. Some refer to long-standing issues that require new approaches; others are concerned with newly emerging issues and those where conditions are changing rapidly in this fast-moving region.

- 1. The impact of the CRRF (the subject of an ongoing REF study) is expected to deliver more integration between refugees and host communities. However, even as governments in Uganda and Ethiopia develop new refugee policies, we are seeing insufficient funding to support CRRF initiatives in the region. Many challenges to CRRF progress remain, including questions around how more 'progressive' or open approaches to refugees can be sustained both financially and politically in the face of such funding shortfalls.
- 2. There is clear evidence of growing urbanisation across the region seen in the multiple references to rural—urban migration. As REF research in Somalia has shown, urbanisation is intimately connected with displacement, refugee returns and other elements of forced migration, as well as rural—urban migration that can be characterised as driven more by livelihoods. How do these links between urbanisation and displacement play out in other parts of the region? The REF is already planning a study on this in South Sudan, but the changing conditions in Eritrea and Sudan may make this an important and viable area of research in those two countries as well.
- 3. Education is an important driver of migration across the region (as it is in other parts of the world). However, not only do people move in search of education, they also resist moving to ensure they or their children can complete their studies. How does this shape patterns of displacement and return movement where there are high levels of instability and political violence? In particular, when we are concerned with cross-border movement, what qualities of education play the most important role in shaping people's decision quality, qualifications or language? Moreover, how do the changing cultures of education change people's ideas about moving for example, will a female migrant want to return to a more socially conservative environment where putting girls into schools may be discouraged?
- 4. There is research into the role of social media in driving migration providing the images that stimulate ideas of moving, and the information and contacts that facilitate it. However, there

is an important role for social media in ensuring that the benefits of migration are delivered – maintaining networks, enabling rural—urban safety nets to function, and so forth. It is not clear how far social media may serve to exacerbate migration behaviour or potentially reduce the need for it by enabling the benefits of migration to be shared.

- 5. There are frequent calls to understand better and learn from the perspectives of migrants and their communities. However, it is not clear how this can be taken into account in programming, especially where these perspectives do not resonate with the interests of states, donors and international organisations. For example, returned 'failed' migrants are being recruited to deliver messages about the risks and costs of irregular migration. This reflects a rather narrow set of perspectives. Is there anything to be learned from those who are successful?
- 6. It is striking that the discussions on migration governance across the region are making much more reference to the GCR and the CRRF. Is there any prospect of an equivalent articulation of the Global Compact on Migration in policy and programming across the region? Is there any implementation strategy for the region?
- 7. Crossing borders, often using irregular routes, plays a very important role in the livelihoods of millions of people across the region (especially pastoralists and many labour migrants) and also provides protection in times of crisis as people seek asylum in the face of political crises and violence. The EUTF is making significant investments in trying to improve the safety of these movements and ensure people's rights are upheld, in particular through the Better Migration Management programme. However, there is a tension between the imperatives of humanitarianism (ensuring protection and rights), development (enabling livelihoods) and state building and state sovereignty over borders. Is it possible to resolve such tensions, and if so how? If not, which should take priority and who decides?

References

- Abdelmoneim, Y. and Litchfield, J. (2016). *Does Migration Improve Living Standards of Migrant-sending Households? Evidence from Rural Ethiopia*. Brighton: Migrating out of Poverty RPC, University of Sussex. [Available at https://www.gov.uk/dfid-research-outputs/does-migration-improve-living-standards-of-migrant-sending-households-evidence-from-rural-ethiopia]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Abokor, A.Y. and Ali, N.M. (2018). *Assessing the 2017 Somaliland Presidential Election*. Rift Valley Institute. [Available at http://riftvalley.net/publication/assessing-2017-somaliland-presidential-election#.Xc72Y1f7RPY]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Akumu, O. (2016). 'At any cost? The outsourcing of Europe's border management'. Mixed Migration Centre. [Available at http://www.mixedmigration.org/articles/at-any-cost-the-outsourcing-of-europes-border-management/]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Akumu, O. and Frouws, B. (2017). 'Drought: a contributing or limiting factor in migration?' Mixed Migration Centre. [Available at http://www.mixedmigration.org/articles/drought-a-contributing-or-limiting-factor-in-migration/]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Al-Diyabi, A.K. (2019). 'Saudi Arabia revokes visas for Ethiopian housemaids after differences over recruitment conditions'. *Saudi Gazette* [http://saudigazette.com.sa/article/567283]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Ali, N.-I. (2016). Going on Tahriib: The Causes and Consequences of Somali Youth Migration to Europe. Rift Valley Institute. [Available at https://www.refworld.org/docid/57e92d114.html]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Alix-Garcia, J., Walker, S., Bartlett, A., Onder, H. and Sanghi, A. (2018). 'Do refugee camps help or hurt hosts? The case of Kakuma, Kenya'. *Journal of Development Economics* 130, 66–83.
- American Security Project (2019). *Climate Change, Sub-Saharan Africa, and US National Security* [available at https://www.americansecurityproject.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/Ref-0227-Climate-Change-Sub-Saharan-Africa-US-Natsec.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Atger, A.F. (2019). 'EU migration strategy: compromising principled humanitarian action'. *Forced Migration Review 61*, 30–32.
- Bartels, I. (2017). "We must do it gently." The contested implementation of the IOM's migration management in Morocco'. *Migration Studies 5*, 315–336.
- BBC (2019). 'Sudan country profile'. BBC News [https://www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-14094995]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Belloni, M. (2019a). 'Family project or individual choice? Exploring agency in young Eritreans' migration'. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, DOI: 10.1080/1369183X.2019.1584698.

- Belloni, M. (2019b). 'Why young Eritreans are going to keep risking deadly migration crossings to Europe'. *Quartz Africa* [https://qz.com/africa/1676254/young-eritreans-are-still-migrating-at-alarming-rates/]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Bilgili, Ö., Kuschminder, K. and Siegel, M. (2018). 'Return migrants' perceptions of living conditions in Ethiopia: a gendered analysis'. *Migration Studies 6*(3), 345–366.
- Borderon, M., Sakdapolrak, P., Mullarak, R., Kebede, E., Pagogna, R. and Sporer, E. (2018). 'A systematic review of empirical evidence on migration influenced by environmental change in Africa'. Laxenburg: International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis. [Available at http://pure.iiasa.ac.at/id/eprint/15382/1/WP-18-003.pdf]. Accessed: 25 November 2019.
- Botti, D. (2018). 'A year on revisiting the Eritrean Exodus'. Mixed Migration Centre. [Available at http://www.mixedmigration.org/articles/a-year-on-revisiting-the-eritrean-exodus/]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Botti, D. and Horwood, C. (2017). 'New trend/old tactics: war revives brutal smuggler practices in the Gulf of Aden'. Mixed Migration Centre. [Available at http://www.mixedmigration.org/articles/new-trend-old-tactics-war-revives/]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Botti, D. and Phillips, M. (2019). 'Record numbers of refugees and migrants arrive in Yemen amidst intensifying and complicated war'. Mixed Migration Centre. [Available at http://www.mixedmigration.org/articles/record-numbers-of-refugees-and-migrants-arrive-in-yemen-amidst-intensifying-and-complicated-war/]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Breines, M.R. (2019). 'Ethnicity across regional boundaries: migration and the politics of inequality in Ethiopia'. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, DOI: 10.1080/1369183X.2019.1577724.
- Brekke, J.-P. and Staver, A.B. (2019). 'Social media screening: Norway's asylum system'. *Forced Migration Review 61*, 9–11.
- Busza, J., Teferra, S., Omer, S. and Zimmerman, C. (2017). 'Learning from returnee Ethiopian migrant domestic workers: a qualitative assessment to reduce the risk of human trafficking'. *Globalization and Health 13*(1). [Available at http://globalizationandhealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12992-017-0293-x]. Accessed: 17 October 2019.
- Castillejo, C. (2017). *The EU Migration Partnership Framework: Time for a Rethink?* Bonn: German Development Institute.
- Coggio, T. (2018). 'Can Uganda's breakthrough refugee-hosting model be sustained?' Migration Policy Institute. [Available at https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/can-ugandas-breakthrough-refugee-hosting-model-be-sustained]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Cole, D.G. (2019). 'Systemic ambivalence in authoritarian contexts: the case of opinion formation in Eritrea'. *Political Geography 73*, 28–37.
- Collett, E. and Ahad, A. (2017). *EU Migration Partnerships: A Work in Progress*. Brussels: Migration Policy Institute. [https://www.migrationpolicy.org/research/eu-migration-partnershipswork-progress]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Crawley, H. and Blitz, B.K. (2019). 'Common agenda or Europe's agenda? International protection,

- human rights and migration from the Horn of Africa'. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 45(12), 2258–2274.
- Crawley, H., Düvell, F., Jones, K., McMahon, S. and Sigona, N. (2016). *Understanding the Dynamics and Drivers of Mediterranean Migration in 2015* [available at http://www.medmig.info/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/research-brief-destination-europe.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019].
- Davy, D. (2017). *Unpacking the Myths: Human Smuggling from and within the Horn of Africa*.

 Regional Mixed Migration Secretariat and Danish Refugee Council. [Available at https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/RMMS%20BriefingPaper6%20-%20Unpacking%20the%20Myths.pdf]. Accessed: 25 November 2019.
- Dessiye, M. and Emirie, G. (2018). Living and working as a domestic worker in the Middle East: the experience of migrant returnees in Girana town, North Wollo, Ethiopia. *African and Black Diaspora: An International Journal*, 11(1), 69–86.
- Devtracker. (2019a). 'Jobs Compact Ethiopia' [https://devtracker.dfid.gov.uk/projects/GB-GOV-1-300393/documents]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Devtracker. (2019b). 'Jobs Compact Ethiopia: Annual Review 1' [https://devtracker.dfid.gov.uk/projects/GB-GOV-1-300393/documents]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Dick, E. and Schraven, B. (2018). *Regional Migration Governance in Africa and Beyond: A Framework of Analysis*. Bonn: Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik.
- Dini, S. (2018). 'Migration management, capacity building and the sovereignty of an African state: International Organization for Migration in Djibouti'. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 44(10), 1691–1705.
- Dunovant, D. (2016). 'Northern Uganda: protection in displacement, protection on return'. *Forced Migration Review 53*, 28–30.
- European Asylum Support Office (EASO) (2019a). *Eritrea: National Service, Exit and Return* [available at https://coi.easo.europa.eu/administration/easo/PLib/2019_EASO_COI_Eritrea_National_ser vice_exit_and_return.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- EASO (2019b). 'Latest asylum trends, August 2019' [https://easo.europa.eu/latest-asylum-trends]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- European Commission (2016). 'Commission announces New Migration Partnership Framework: reinforced cooperation with third countries to better manage migration'. [https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_16_2072]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- European Commission. (2017). Fourth Progress Report on the Partnership Framework with third countries under the European Agenda on Migration. Strasbourg: European Commission.

 [Available at https://eeas.europa.eu/sites/eeas/files/4th_progress_report_partnership_framework_with _third_countries_under_european_agenda_on_migration.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November

2019.

- European Commission (nd). 'Mythbusting: what the EU really does in Sudan'. [Available at https://eeas.europa.eu/sites/eeas/files/migration_sheet_english.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Federal Ministry of Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ) (2018). 'Good practice of comprehensive responses: supporting Uganda as a CRRF pilot country'. Global CRRF. [Available at http://www.globalcrrf.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/11/Uganda_good-practice_CRRF-BMZ_140218.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Fentaw, A.E. (2018). 'Ethiopian returnee women from Arab countries: challenges of successful reintegration'. *African and Black Diaspora: An International Journal 11*(1), 33–50.
- Freitag, S. (2019). 'Ethiopia's new migration policy: a positive step but continued scrutiny needed'.

 Dalkeith, Australia: Minderoo Foundation. [Available at:

 https://www.minderoo.com.au/walk-free/news/ethiopias-new-migration-policy-a-positive-step-but-continued-scrutiny-needed/]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Frouws, B. (2016). 'Desperate determination: a record number of migrants arrive in Yemen in 2016'. Mixed Migration Centre. [Available at http://www.mixedmigration.org/articles/desperate-determination/]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Frouws, B. (2017a). 'Mass deportations looming: Saudi Arabia gears up to expel millions of migrants...again. Mixed Migration Centre. [Available at http://www.mixedmigration.org/articles/mass-deportations-looming-saudi-arabia-gears-up-to-expel-millions-of-migrantsagain/]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Frouws, B. (2017b). 'The Eritrean exodus: what happened in 2016?' Mixed Migration Centre. [Available at http://www.mixedmigration.org/articles/the-eritrean-exodus-what-happened-in-2016/]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Frouws, B. and Brenner, Y. (2019). 'A persistent reality: the role of corruption in mixed migration'.

 Mixed Migration Centre. [Available at http://www.mixedmigration.org/articles/a-persistent-reality-the-role-of-corruption-in-mixed-migration/]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Frouws, B. and Horwood, C. (2018). 'Both angels and demons? The role and nature of migrant smugglers'. Mixed Migration Centre. [Available at http://www.mixedmigration.org/articles/both-angels-and-demons-the-role-and-nature-of-migrant-smugglers/]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Frouws, B. and Horwood, C. (2019). 'Drivers revisited: why people migrate'. Mixed Migration Centre. [Available at http://www.mixedmigration.org/articles/drivers-revisitedwhy-people-migrate/]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Frowd, P.M. (2018). 'Developmental borderwork and the International Organization for Migration'. Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies 44(10), pp.1656–1672.
- Gavonel, M.F. (2017). Patterns and Drivers of Internal Migration Among Youth in Ethiopia, India,
 Peru and Vietnam. Oxford: Young Lives. [Available at:
 https://www.younglives.org.uk/sites/www.younglives.org.uk/files/YL-WP169-Gavonel.pdf].
 Accessed: 15 November 2019.

- Gebrekidan, G.Z. (2017). 'Spiraling violence and drought drive refugee crisis in South Sudan'.

 Migration Policy Institute. [Available at https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/spiraling-violence-and-drought-drive-refugee-crisis-south-sudan]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Gomes, S. (2018). 'Meseret's story: women, work, and betterment in an Ethiopia–Saudi Arabia return labor migration'. *African and Black Diaspora: An International Journal* 11(1), 51–68.
- Habte, B. and Kweon, Y.J. (2018). 'Addressing internal displacement in Ethiopia'. *Forced Migration Review 59*, 40–42.
- Hardy, V. and Hauge, J. (2019). 'Labour challenges in Ethiopia's textile and leather industries: no voice, no loyalty, no exit?' *African Affairs* [https://academic.oup.com/afraf/advance-article/doi/10.1093/afraf/adz001/5365622]. Accessed: 17 October 2019].
- Hemberger, A., Muench, S. and Purvis, C. (2018). 'The power of markets: lessons from Uganda'. *Forced Migration Review 58*, 50–51.
- Horwood, C. (2016). 'The Migration Compact: a robust triangle of victims and perpetrators'. Mixed Migration Centre. [Available at http://www.mixedmigration.org/articles/the-migration-compact-a-robust-triangle-of-victims-and-perpetrators/]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Horwood, C. and Hooper, K. (2016). *Protection on the Move: Eritrean Refugee Flows through the Greater Horn of Africa*. Washington, DC: Migration Policy Institute. [Available at https://www.migrationpolicy.org/research/protection-move-eritrean-refugee-flows-through-greater-horn-africa]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Ikanda, F.N. (2018). 'Somali refugees in Kenya and social resilience: resettlement imaginings and the longing for Minnesota'. *African Affairs* 117(469), 569–591.
- International Labour Organization (ILO) (2018). Summary Report on Socio-economic Assessment of Migration in Ethiopia. Addis Ababa: ILO. [Available at https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---africa/---ro-addis_ababa/---sro-addis_ababa/documents/publication/wcms 618140.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019].
- IOM (2019). 'Return of Ethiopian migrants from the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia: Regional Office for the East and Horn of Africa, 5 May 2017–31 March 2019' [available at https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/KSA%20Factsheet_March%202019_ Regional%20Data%20Hub.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- IOM Displacement Tracking Matrix (IOM DTM) (2019). 'Monthly Regional Update WCA, MENA, EHA (May 2019)' [available at https://migration.iom.int/reports/monthly-regional-update-%E2%80%94-wca-mena-eha-may-2019]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Jansen, B.J. (2018). 'Humanitarianism as buffer: displacement, aid and the politics of belonging in Abyei, Sudan/South Sudan'. *African Affairs* 117(468), 370–391.
- Khartoum Process (2016a). Khartoum Process [https://www.khartoumprocess.net/]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Khartoum Process (2016b). *Regional Development Protection Programme (RDPP)* [available from: https://www.khartoumprocess.net/operations/31-regional-development-protection-programme-rdpp-horn-of-africa]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.

- Kindersley, N. and Majock, J.D. (2019). *Monetized Livelihoods and Militarized Labour in South Sudan's Borderlands*. Rift Valley Institute. [Available at http://riftvalley.net/publication/monetized-livelihoods-and-militarized-labour-south-sudan%E2%80%99s-borderlands#.Xc7cW1f7RPY]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Krause, U. (2016). 'Limitations of development-oriented assistance in Uganda'. *Forced Migration Review 52*, 51–53.
- Kreibaum, M. (2016). 'Their suffering, our burden? How Congolese refugees affect the Ugandan population'. *World Development 78*, 262–287.
- Lanciotti, M. (2019). 'Adult literacy: an essential component of the CRRF'. *Forced Migration Review* 60, 31–34.
- Lindsay, F. (2019). 'Sudan unrest led EU to suspend funds for migration control, but Khartoum Process should end for good. *Forbes*[https://www.forbes.com/sites/freylindsay/2019/08/06/the-eu-says-it-has-stopped-giving-money-to-sudan-for-migration-control/#71b156d47faf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Mainwaring, Ċ. (2016). 'Migrant agency: negotiating borders and migration controls'. *Migration Studies 4*(3), 289–308. [Available at https://www.law.ox.ac.uk/research-subject-groups/centre-criminology/centreborder-criminologies/blog/2018/04/eu-hotspot-1]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Majid, N. (2018). *Remittances and Vulnerability in Somalia*. Rift Valley Institute. [Available at http://riftvalley.net/publication/remittances-and-vulnerability-somalia#.Xc71M1f7RPY]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Majid, N. and Abdirahman, K. (2019). *Somalia and Yemen's Cross-border Maritime Economy*. Rift Valley Institute. [Available at http://riftvalley.net/publication/somalia-and-yemens-cross-border-maritime-economy#.Xc7gOVf7RPY]. Accessed: 15 November 2019].
- Majidi, N. (2018). 'Community dimensions of smuggling: the case of Afghanistan and Somalia'. Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 676(1), 97–113.
- Majidi, N. and Dadu-Brown, S. (2016). 'Transitional solutions for the displaced in the Horn of Africa'. *Forced Migration Review 52*, 66–67.
- Massa, A. (2018). 'Borders and boundaries as resources for mobility: multiple regimes of mobility and incoherent trajectories on the Ethiopian–Eritrean border'. *Geoforum* [https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0016718518300071]. Accessed: 17 October 2019.
- Mengiste, T.A. (2018). 'Refugee protections from below: smuggling in the Eritrea–Ethiopia context'. Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 676(1), 57–76.
- Migali, S., Natale, F., Tintori, G., Kalantaryan, S., Grubanov-Boskovic, S., Scipioni, M., Farinosi, F., Cattaneo, C., Benandi, B., Follador, M., Bidoglio, G., McMahon, S. and Barbas, T. (2018). *International Migration Drivers: A Quantitative Assessment of the Structural Factors shaping Migration*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. [Available at https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/bitstream/JRC112622/imd_report_final_online.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.

- Millington, K.A. and Bhardwaj, M. (2017). *Effectiveness of Programmes supporting Migrants in Africa*. K4D Helpdesk. [Available at https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5975f44aed915d59bd000006/142-HDR-Programmes-for-supporting-migrants-in-Africa-final.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Mohamud, M. (2016). 'Somalia–Yemen links: refugees and returnees'. *Forced Migration Review 52*, 55–56.
- Mueller, V. and Schmidt, E. (2016). Household and Spatial Drivers of Migration Patterns in Africa.

 Washington, DC: World Bank. [Available at
 https://collaboration.worldbank.org/content/sites/collaboration-fordevelopment/en/groups/research-partnership-for-sustainable-urbandevelopment/groups/spatial-developmentresearch/documents.entry.html/2016/05/24/household_and_spatia-wtx8.html]. Accessed:
 15 November 2019.
- Mukandayisenga, E. (2016). 'Refugees as a first stop for protection in Kampala'. *Forced Migration Review 53*, 17–19.
- Müller, T.R. (2019). 'Borders and boundaries in the state-making of Eritrea: revisiting the importance of territorial integrity in the rapprochement between Eritrea and Ethiopia'. *Review of African Political Economy 46*(160), 279–293.
- Mwangi, E. (2018). 'Out of Eritrea: what happens after Badme?' Mixed Migration Centre. [Available at http://www.mixedmigration.org/articles/out-of-eritrea/]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Oette, L. and Babiker, M.A. (2017). 'Migration control à la Khartoum: EU external engagement and human rights protection in the Horn of Africa'. *Refugee Survey Quarterly 36*(4), 64–89.
- Omata, N. (2018). 'Refugees' engagement with host economies in Uganda'. *Forced Migration Review* 58, 19–21.
- Ombuor, R. (2019). 'Fate of Dadaab Refugee Camp in limbo as Kenya presses for closure'. Voice of America. [https://www.voanews.com/africa/fate-dadaab-refugee-camp-limbo-kenya-presses-closure]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Onyoin, C.A. (2017). 'A grim return: post-deportation risks in Uganda'. *Forced Migration Review 54*, 81–83.
- Owain, E.L. and Maslin, M.A. (2018). 'Assessing the relative contribution of economic, political and environmental factors on past conflict and the displacement of people in East Africa'. *Palgrave Communications*, 4(1) [http://www.nature.com/articles/s41599-018-0096-6]. Accessed: 17 October 2019.
- Patinkin, J. (2017). 'Hungry South Sudanese refugees risk death in return home for food'. Reuters [https://www.reuters.com/article/us-southsudan-hunger-idUSKBN1D81TG]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Pegg, S. and Walls, M. (2018). 'Back on track? Somaliland after its 2017 presidential election'. *African Affairs* 117(467), 326–337.
- Ramsay, G. (2019). 'Humanitarian exploits: ordinary displacement and the political economy of the global refugee regime'. *Critique of Anthropology 0(0)*, 1-25.

- Reda, A.H. (2018). 'An investigation into the experiences of female victims of trafficking in Ethiopia'. *African and Black Diaspora: An International Journal 11*(1), 87–102.
- Regional Durable Solutions Secretariat (ReDSS) (2018). Analysis of Solutions Planning and Programming in Urban Contexts: Case Studies from Nairobi–Kenya and Mogadishu and Baidoa–Somalia [available at http://regionaldss.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/ReDSS-URBAN-STUDY-FULL-REPORT.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Regional Mixed Migration Secretariat (RMMS) (2016). *Getting to Europe the 'WhatsApp Way': The Use of ICT in Contemporary Mixed Migration Flows to Europe*. Nairobi: Regional Mixed Migration Secretariat. [Available at http://www.mixedmigration.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/015 getting-to-europe.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Research and Evidence Facility (REF) (2017a). *Migration and Conflict in the Horn of Africa: A Desk Review and Proposal for Research*. London and Nairobi: EU Trust Fund for Africa (Horn of Africa Window) Research and Evidence Facility. [Available at https://www.soas.ac.uk/ref-hornresearch/research-papers/file120035.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- REF (2017b). Migration between the Horn of Africa and Yemen: A Study of Puntland, Djibouti and Yemen. London and Nairobi: EU Trust Fund for Africa (Horn of Africa Window) Research and Evidence Facility. [Available at https://www.soas.ac.uk/ref-hornresearch/research-papers/file122639.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- REF (2018a). Return and (Re)integration after Displacement: Belonging, Labelling and Livelihoods in Three Somali Cities. London and Nairobi: EU Trust Fund for Africa (Horn of Africa Window) Research and Evidence Facility. [Available at https://www.soas.ac.uk/ref-hornresearch/research-papers/file133104.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- REF (2018b). The Lure of the City: Synthesis Report on Rural to Urban Migration in Ethiopia, Kenya and Uganda. London and Nairobi: EU Trust Fund for Africa (Horn of Africa Window) Research and Evidence Facility. [Available at https://www.soas.ac.uk/ref-hornresearch/research-papers/file128760.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- REF (2019a). The Impact of Youth Training and Employment on Migration Dynamics in the Horn of Africa. London and Nairobi: EU Trust Fund for Africa (Horn of Africa Window) Research and Evidence Facility. [Available at https://www.soas.ac.uk/ref-hornresearch/research-papers/file140969.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- REF (2019b). Comprehensive Refugee Responses in the Horn of Africa: Regional Leadership on Education, Livelihoods and Durable Solutions: summary of findings. London and Nairobi: EU Trust Fund for Africa (Horn of Africa Window) Research and Evidence Facility. [Available at https://blogs.soas.ac.uk/ref-hornresearch/files/2019/12/CRRF-summary-booklet-final-13-Dec.pdf]. Accessed: 10 January 2020.
- Runde, D.F. (2018). 'What peace in Eritrea means for forced migration'. Centre for Strategic and International Studies. [Available at https://www.csis.org/analysis/what-peace-eritreameans-forced-migration]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Salant, B. (2017). As displacement becomes long-term, refugee hosts grapple with new normal'. Migration Policy Institute. [Available at https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/top-10-2017-issue-5-displacement-becomes-long-term-refugee-hosts-grapple-new-normal].

- Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Scheel, S. (2017). 'Appropriating mobility and bordering Europe through romantic love: unearthing the intricate intertwinement of border regimes and migratory practices'. *Migration Studies* 5(3), 389–408.
- Schewel, K. (2018). Ziway or Dubai: Can Flower Farms in Ethiopia reduce Migration to the Middle East? Geneva: International Organization for Migration. [Available at https://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/mrs_series55.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Schewel, K. and Fransen, S. (2018). 'Formal education and migration aspirations in Ethiopia'. *Population and Development Review 44*(3), 555-587.
- Schraven, B., Adaawen, S., Rademacher-Schulz, C. and Segadlo, N. (2019). Human Mobility in the Context of Climate Change in Sub-Saharan Africa Trends and Basic Recommendations for Development Cooperation. Bonn: German Development Institute. [Available at https://www.die-gdi.de/en/briefing-paper/article/human-mobility-in-the-context-of-climate-change-in-sub-saharan-africa-trends-and-basic-recommendations-for-development-cooperation/]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Simson, R. (2019). 'Ethnic (in)equality in the public services of Kenya and Uganda'. *African Affairs* 118(470), 75–100.
- Stites, E., Atim, T. and Tracy, F. (2019). 'She told me that Life here is so Easy': Urban Migration of Acholi Youth, Uganda. London: Secure Livelihoods Research Consortium. [Available at https://securelivelihoods.org/wp-content/uploads/20190228_SLRC_Urban-migration-report-final-online-1.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Tegegne, A.D. and Penker, M. (2016). 'Determinants of rural out-migration in Ethiopia: who stays and who goes?'. *Demographic Research 35*, 1011–1044.
- Terada, Y., Evans, D. and Mwaniki, D. (2017). 'Planning for the integration of refugee and host communities in Turkana County, Kenya'. *Forced Migration Review 55*, 52–54.
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) (2016). From a Refugee Perspective.

 Geneva: UNHCR. [Available at https://www.unhcr.org/publications/brochures/5909af4d4/from-a-refugee-perspective.html]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- UNHCR (2018a). 'Ethiopia: renewed influx of Eritrean refugees, 12th September to 20th October 2018'. ReliefWeb. [https://reliefweb.int/report/ethiopia/ethiopia-renewed-influx-eritrean-refugees-12th-september-20th-october-2018]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- UNHCR (2018b). 'Kenya'. Global Compact on Refugees Platform. [http://www.globalcrrf.org/crrf_country/kenya-2/]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- UNHCR (2018c). 'Somali Situation'. Global Compact on Refugees Platform. [http://www.globalcrrf.org/crrf_country/som/]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- UNHCR (2019a). 'Comprehensive Refugee Response Framework' [available at https://www.unhcr.org/comprehensive-refugee-response-framework-crrf.html]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.

- UNHCR (2019b). *Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2018*. Geneva: UNHCR. [Available at https://www.unhcr.org/afr/statistics/unhcrstats/5d08d7ee7/unhcr-global-trends-2018.html?query=global%20trends%20in%20forces%20displacement]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- UNHCR Djibouti (2019). *Guide du CRRF note conceptuelle: opération de Djibouti*. ONARS/UNHCR Djibouti. [Available at http://www.globalcrrf.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Djibouti-GUIDE-CRRF-Febrary-2019.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Van Hear, N., Bakewell, O. and Long, K. (2018). 'Push–pull plus: reconsidering the drivers of migration'. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies 44*(6), 927–944.
- Verjee, A. and Knopf, P. (2019). A Year of Change in Ethiopia. New York: United States Institute of Peace. [Available at https://www.usip.org/publications/2019/04/year-change-ethiopia]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Wittenberg, L. (2017). *Managing Mixed Migration: The Central Mediterranean Route to Europe*. New York: International Peace Institute. [Available at https://www.ipinst.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/1704_Managing-Mixed-Migration.pdf]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- World Bank (2016). 'World Bank makes progress to support remittance flows to Somalia'. Press release. [Available at https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2016/06/10/world-bank-makes-progress-to-support-remittance-flows-to-somalia]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- World Food Programme (WFP) (2017). At the Root of Exodus: Food Security, Conflict and International Migration. Rome: World Food Programme. [Available at https://documents.wfp.org/stellent/groups/public/documents/communications/wfp291884 .pdf?_ga=2.61106602.728945291.1494477254-407628426.1494477196]. Accessed: 15 November 2019.
- Zewdu, G.A. (2018). 'Ethiopian female domestic labour migration to the Middle East: patterns, trends, and drivers'. *African and Black Diaspora: An International Journal 11*(1), 6–19.